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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of XS Financial, Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of XS Financial, Inc. (the “Company”) which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in equity (deficiency) 
and consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (the 
“financial statements”).  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Other Matter 

The financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, were audited 
by another auditor in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards who expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on April 23, 2021. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Financing Receivables 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into financing leases with multiple 
new customers resulting in leasing revenues of $3,158,562 for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
Correspondingly, the Company had an ending balance of $34,959,234 for the year ended December 31, 
2021.



2 

How the Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

We reviewed the underlying contracts and recalculated the balances of financing receivables for a 
sample of leases. We additionally sent out confirmations, and also vouched subsequent receipts on a 
sample of financing receivables. Additionally, we evaluated the financing receivables for any potential 
impairment. 

Convertible Debt 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into a convertible debt agreement 
totaling $33,500,000.  

How the Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

We reviewed the contract and evaluated the Company’s accounting treatment to ensure that the 
conversion feature was correctly classified and reviewed the valuation of the same prepared by 
management’s specialist. Additionally, we confirmed the debt balance as well as all embedded features, 
and ensured that the underlying accounting both at inception and subsequently, were accurately 
recorded. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 

• The information, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon,
included in the Annual Report, and

• The information included in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained the Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Annual Report prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Company to express on opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during out audit. 

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Shaji Varghese. 

Bellmore, New York 
May 2, 2022 
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XS Financial Inc.
Consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Note 2021 2020
Revenue 4 3,158,562$   676,460$    
Operating expenses
Administrative expenses 5 3,837,830   2,319,181  
Sales and marketing expenses 5 250,103 309,340 
Loss from operations (929,371)  (1,952,061)   
Financing expense, net 12 1,453,741  521,504 
Accretion expense 12 867,285 323,678 
Realized loss on sale of investments 6 98,857  1,501,621  
Unrealized loss in fair value change of investments 6 44,719  461,395 
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 13 (1,048,781)  - 
Loss on sale of servicing and property equipment

and inventory 9 - 311,113
Other income 640,229  (18,050)
Loss before income tax (2,985,421)  (5,053,322)   
Income tax recovery 15 -  - 
Net loss (2,985,421)$   (5,053,322)$   

Other comprehensive loss
Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation 716,334  (18,104)  
Comprehensive loss (2,269,087)$   (5,071,426)$   

Loss per share - basic and diluted (0.03)$     (0.10)$    

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 95,509,221  53,145,555  

Year ended December 31,

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

Gary Herman, Director Stephen Christoffersen, Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

XS Financial Inc.
Consolidated statements of financial position  
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Note 2021 2020
Assets
Current assets 
Cash 17,119,026$      545,990$           
Investments 6 85,772              316,194            
Financing receivables, short-term 7 9,484,979          1,454,927          
Prepaid and other current assets 8 115,097            79,233              

Total current assets 26,804,874        2,396,344          

Non-current assets 
Servicing and property equipment 9 27,386              44,884              
Financing receivables, long-term 7 25,474,255        4,852,768          

Total non-current assets 25,501,641        4,897,652          

Total assets 52,306,515$      7,293,996$        

Shareholders' equity and liabilities
Current liabilities 
Loans and borrowings, short-term 12 1,287,143$        805,762$           
Trade and other payables 10 1,420,604          2,264,139          
Accrued expenses 11 2,966,802          1,149,641          
Warrant derivative liabilities 13 1,805,665          -                   
Amounts due to related parties 17 1,849                256,486            

Total current liabilities 7,482,063          4,476,028          

Non-current liabilities 
Loans and borrowings, long-term 12 34,334,201        2,283,890          
Embedded derivative liabilities 12 1,072,722          -                   

Total non-current liabilities 35,406,923        2,283,890          

Total liabilities 42,888,986        6,759,918          

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 14 21,158,842        14,688,043        
Reserves 8,279,809          3,589,233          
Conversion feature - debentures 930,697            939,534            
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 673,545            (42,789)             
Accumulated deficit (21,625,364)       (18,639,943)       

Total shareholders' equity 9,417,529          534,078            

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 52,306,515$      7,293,996$        

Nature of operations and background information (Note 1)
Contingencies (Notes 12 and 17)
Subsequent events (Note 19)

-                         -                         

December 31,
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

XS Financial Inc.
Consolidated statements of changes in equity
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Number of Accumulated 
Number of Proportionate Conversion other
Common Common Share feature for comprehensive Accumulated

Note Shares Shares Capital Reserves debentures loss deficit Total
Balance at January 1, 2020 29,986,764   12,507        10,342,678$  3,234,686$    958,935$     (24,685)$        (13,586,621)$  924,993$       

Conversion of Sub Receipt debentures
to common shares and warrants 13,14 48,181   - 24,510 13,223         (19,401)     -     -      18,332         

Redeemable common stock held in escrow -        -      650,000 -       -    -     -      650,000       
Issuance of proportionate voting shares 14 - 10,600 3,273,100   -       -    -     -      3,273,100    
Issuance of common shares to consultants, board

members and related parties 14 1,852,108     - 301,517 -       -    -     -      301,517       
Issuance of common shares for the purchase

of a lenders license 14 450,671        - 96,238 -       -    -     -      96,238         
Share-based incentive compensation 16 -        -      -      341,324       -    -     -      341,324       
Net loss and comprehensive loss -        -      -      -       - (18,104) (5,053,322)   (5,071,426)   

Balance at December 31, 2020 32,337,724   23,107        14,688,043$  3,589,233$    939,534$     (42,789)$        (18,639,943)$  534,078$       

Balance at January 1, 2021 32,337,724   23,107        14,688,043$  3,589,233$    939,534$     (42,789)$        (18,639,943)$  534,078$       
Conversion of Sub Receipt debentures

to common shares and warrants 13,14 31,818   - 13,533 9,660   (8,837)       -     -      14,356         
Issuance of common shares to consultants and 

related parties 14 2,447,170     - 575,006 -       -    -     -      575,006       
Common shares, proportionate voting shares and 

warrants issued in connection with private placement, 
net of issuance costs of $1,504,308 13,14 40,709,731   5,251  5,882,260   3,992,871    -    -     -      9,875,131    

Share-based incentive compensation 16 -        -      -      688,045       -    -     -      688,045       
Net loss and comprehensive loss -        -      -       -    716,334     (2,985,421)   (2,269,087)   

Balance at December 31, 2021 75,526,443   28,358        21,158,842$  8,279,809$    930,697$     673,545$       (21,625,364)$  9,417,529$    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Note 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities 
Net loss for the year (2,985,421)$     (5,053,322)$       
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 9 17,498             94,519              
Acquisition of CFLL 14 -                  96,238              
Unrealized (gain) loss on investment 6 44,720             461,395            
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 12,13 (1,048,781)       -                   
Loss on investment 6 98,857             1,501,621          
Gain on lease termination 7 (67,358)            -                   
Gain on loan forgiveness 12 (55,762)            -                   
Loss on sale of inventory and servicing and property equipment 9 -                  311,133
Incentive compensation expense 16 688,045           341,324            
Common shares issued for services 14 254,001           282,470            
Interest expense paid in kind 12 117,250           -                   
Finance and accretion expense 12 867,285           323,678            

(2,069,666)       (1,640,944)         
Change in working capital items:

Financing receivables 7 (28,584,181)     (5,416,549)         
Prepaid and other current assets 8 (35,864)            279,109            
Trade and other payables 10 (843,535)          2,144,387          
Accrued expenses 11 1,883,165        901,324            
Amounts due to related parties 17 363                 256,486            

Net cash flows used in operating activities (29,649,718)     (3,476,187)         

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from the sale of servicing equipment and 

property and equipment 9 -                  605,205            
Proceeds from the sale of investments 6 86,845             993,890            
Purchases of servicing and property equipment 9 -                  (251,869)           

Net cash flows provided by investing activities 86,845             1,347,226          

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of private placement, net of issuance costs 14 9,875,132        -                   
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes 12 33,500,000      -                   
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 12 14,965,000      805,762            
Repayment of loans and borrowings 12 (10,595,380)     (600,000)           
Payment of debt financing and issuance costs 12 (2,325,177)       -                   
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 45,419,575      205,762            

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 716,334           (18,104)             

Net increase (decrease) in cash 16,573,036      (1,941,303)         
Cash at beginning of the the year 545,990           2,487,293          
Cash at end of the year 17,119,026$     545,990$           

Year ended December 31,

XS Financial Inc.
Consolidated statements of cash flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Note 2021 2020
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest 1,332,888$   513,416$   

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Issuance of proportionate common shares for investment 14 -$  3,273,100$   
Issuance of common shares to consultants, board

members and related parties 14 575,006   301,517     
Redeemable common stock settlement - 650,000 
Conversion of Sub Receipt convertible debt to common stock

and warrants 12 14,355  18,332
Private placement issuance costs - warrants issued 13,14 442,508   - 
Issuance of units in connection with the payment of a finance

fee related to the private placement 14 341,659   - 
Issuance of warrant derivative liabilities 13 1,966,775    - 
Issuance of embedded derivative liabilities 12 1,960,393    - 

Year ended December 31,

XS Financial Inc.
Consolidated statements of cash flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars)



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
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(1) Nature of operations and background information 

XS Financial Inc. ("XSF", or "the Company"), which changed its name from Xtraction Services 
Holdings Corp. on June 26, 2020 and formerly known as Caracara Silver Inc. ("Caracara") was 
incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on December 3, 2009 and is 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE") under the symbol "XSF".  

XSF, inclusive of its wholly-owned subsidiary Xtraction Services, Inc ("XSI"), is a specialty 
finance company that provides equipment leasing solutions in the United States to 
owner/operators of cannabis and hemp companies including cultivators, oil processors, 
manufacturers, testing laboratories, among others and operates in one business segment in one 
geographic area. Its registered office is located at 301 - 1665 Ellis Street, Kelowna, British 
Columbia, VIY 2B3 and its operations address is 1901 Avenue of The Stars, Suite 120, Los 
Angeles, California 90067, USA. 

On March 22, 2019, XSI entered into a definitive merger agreement with Caracara pursuant to 
which Caracara would acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of XSI. The 
transaction was structured as a “reverse triangular merger” between XSI, Caracara and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Caracara incorporated under the laws of Delaware. On September 11, 2019, 
the merger became effective whereby Caracara's subsidiary acquired all of the issued and 
outstanding Class A and Class B common shares, stock options and warrants of XSI and the 
resulting issuer changed its name from Caracara Silver Inc. to Xtraction Services Holdings Corp. 
and continued with the business of XSI.  

On July 13, 2020, the Company purchased CA Licensed Lenders LLC ("CFLL"), whereby the 
only asset was a California lenders license.  

On July 7, 2021, the Company established XSF SPC, LLC (" XSF SPC"), a Delaware limited 
liability company wholly owned by XSF, and utilized as a special purpose vehicle for the purpose 
of funding new leases under a $15,000,000 credit facility entered into in September of 2021 (Note 
12).   

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Company’s 
board of directors and are authorized for issuance as of April 29, 2022.  

 
  



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
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Basis of presentation 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and International Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
(collectively IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has control, where control is defined to exist 
when the Company is exposed to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Company and are de-consolidated from the 
date control ceases.   
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, Xtraction Services, Inc. incorporated in Delaware, United States, CA 
Licensed Lenders LLC incorporated in California, United States, XSF SPC, LLC  incorporated in 
Delaware, United States and CSI Princesa Inc. incorporated in Ontario, Canada.  The results of 
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss from the effective date of acquisition up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
 
All intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated upon consolidation. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in U.S. dollars (USD). The 
functional currency of the Company and CSI Princesa Inc., its Canadian subsidiary, is the 
Canadian dollar.  The functional currency of Xtraction Services, Inc., CA Licensed Lenders LLC 
and XSF SPC, LLC is the U.S. dollar.  
 
Basis of measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern and historical 
cost bases, except for derivative financial instruments and hybrid financial liabilities designated at 
fair value through net income or loss, which have been measured at fair value. Historical cost is 
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.  
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting except for cash flow information. 
 
  



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
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Use of estimates and judgement 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires the management of the Company to exercise 
judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies.  The areas where significant judgments 
and estimates have been made in preparing the consolidated financial statements and their effect 
are disclosed in Note 3 below.  

Coronavirus 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus 
(COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout Canada and the United States. 
The spread of COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in Canadian, U.S. and international 
markets. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions 
related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the Canadian, U.S. and international economies 
and, although the Company has not experienced any material impact on its operations to date, the 
Company is unable to determine if it will have a future material impact to its operations or ability 
to raise funds. 
 

(2) Significant accounting policies 
 
Cash  
 
The Company’s cash consists of immediately available fund balances and is maintained at 
recognized US and Canadian banks. Funds maintained at US banks are insured through the FDIC. 
The Company maintained no cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  
 
Investments 
 
Investments consist of marketable securities received in exchange for proportionate voting shares 
related to a strategic partnership and cooperation agreement (Note 6).  The investments were 
initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at fair value with any changes 
recorded as an unrealized gain or loss in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive 
loss. Any gain or loss on the disposal of investments is recorded as a realized gain or loss in the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are measured at amortized cost net of allowance for uncollectible amounts. The 
Company determines its expected credit loss based on a number of factors, including length of 
time an account is past due, the customer’s previous loss history, and the ability of the customer 
to pay its obligation to the Company. The Company writes off receivables when they become 
uncollectible. Expected credit losses are included in general and administration expenses within 
the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
  



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
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Servicing and property and equipment  
 
Servicing and property and equipment is stated at the aggregate cost incurred to acquire and place 
the assets in service. Expenditures for routine maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as 
incurred and costs of improvements and renewals are capitalized.  
 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line 
method when the assets are available for use. Depreciation of servicing and property and 
equipment is included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. Estimated useful lives have been determined as follows:  

  

Long-lived assets  
 

Long-lived assets, such as servicing and property and equipment, are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group be tested for possible 
impairment, the Company estimates its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized to 
the extent the carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value, less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows, or cash –generating units. Fair value is determined using various valuation techniques, 
including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values, and third-party independent 
appraisals, as considered necessary. 
 

Revenue recognition  
 

The Company's revenue is derived from providing financing for equipment and other qualified 
capital expenditures to cannabis companies, including cultivators, processors, manufacturers and 
testing laboratories. The products and services offered by the Company include the financing for 
the lease of equipment and processes.  
 
The Company recognizes revenue using the following five step model to analyze revenue 
transactions:  
 

 Identify the contract(s) with a customer  
 Identify the performance obligations in the contract  
 Determine the transaction price  
 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract  
 Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation  

 

Estimated 
useful lives

Computers 3 years
Machinery and equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years
Servicing equipment 5 years



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
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Leasing arrangements  
 
Interest revenue on finance leases and loans is recognized using the effective interest rate method. 
Ancillary finance and other fee income is recognized when earned. Each lease is classified as 
either a financing lease or operating lease. If a lease meets one or more of the criteria listed below 
and both the collectability of the minimum lease payments is reasonably predictable and there are 
no material uncertainties surrounding the amount of un-reimbursable costs yet to be incurred, the 
lease is classified as a financing lease; otherwise, it is classified as an operating lease:  
 

 The lease transfers ownership of the asset to the customer by the end of the lease term.  
 The customer has the option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be 

sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable for it to 
be reasonably certain, at the inception date that the option will be exercised.  

 The lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not 
transferred.  

 At the inception date, the present value of the lease payments amounts to at least 
substantially all of the fair value of the asset.  

 The asset is of such a specialized nature that only the customer can use it without major 
modifications.  
 

The Company recognizes a finance lease when it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying servicing equipment to the customer. Financing income 
is separated from the contract, computed at the customer’s incremental borrowing rate for 
equipment. When contracts contain non-lease components such as maintenance, professional 
services and or other deliverables, the Company separates and allocates transaction price to those 
individual components.  
 
A lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of 
the asset, is determined to be an operating lease. Revenue from operating leases is recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. 
 
Equipment sales  
 
Revenue from the sale of equipment is generally recognized on a gross basis, only in the normal 
course of business, with the sales price to the customer recorded as revenue and the acquisition 
cost of the product recorded as cost of sales. Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the 
title and risk of loss are passed to the customer upon shipment or delivery. The Company’s 
equipment vendors provide warranties to the Company’s customers on equipment sold and as 
such the Company has not estimated a warranty reserve or deferred revenue for potential 
warranty work.  
 
Financial instruments  
 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has 



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 

   

15 
 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets and liabilities are 
offset, and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories 
depending on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired:  
 
a) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”): A financial 

asset or liability is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
or repurchasing in the short term. Financial instruments in this category are recognized 
initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value are presented in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the year 
in which they arise. The Company has investments classified as FVTPL. 

 
b) Receivables: Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. The Company's receivables comprise trade 
and other receivables and financing receivables and are initially recognized at fair value. 
Subsequently, receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
less a provision for impairment.  

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form and integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.  

 
c) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include trade and 

other payables, accrued expenses, loans and borrowings, and amounts due to related parties 
which include the term loans and the underlying debenture component of the convertible 
debentures. Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.  

 
d) Compound financial instruments are initially measured at fair value less transaction costs 

directly attributable to its issue.  
 

The liability component of compound financial instruments is initially recognized at the fair 
value of a similar liability that does not have an equity component such as a conversion 
option. The equity component is initially recognized as the difference between the fair value 
of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. 
Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components 
in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. Subsequent to initial recognition financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity 
component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured.  
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Where the currency of the conversion price of a conversion option is different than the 
functional currency of the legal entity in which they were issued, the conversion option 
component is accounted for as a derivative liability. For the Company’s conversion options 
denominated in Canadian dollars where the Company’s functional currency was in U.S. 
dollars, the conversion option component is accounted for as a derivative liability, which is 
measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model. In this case, the liability 
component of a compound financial instrument is recognized at the difference between the 
fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the 
conversion option component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the 
liability and conversion option components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
Costs allocated to the derivative liability conversion feature are expensed on initial 
recognition.  

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument 
is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The conversion option 
component classified as a derivative liability is subsequently revalued every reporting period 
using market-based valuation techniques. Gains and losses from changes in fair value are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of loss.  

 
Interest related to the convertible debentures is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
loss and comprehensive loss. On conversion at maturity, the financial liability is reclassified 
to equity and no gain or loss is recognized. 

 
Derivative liabilities  
 
Derivative liabilities are initially recognized at fair value on the date entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
fair value of any derivative instrument are recognized immediately as a component of other 
expense (income) in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
Fair value of financial instruments  
 
The Company categorizes its financial assets and liabilities measured and reported at fair value in 
the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis based upon the level of judgments 
associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels, which are directly 
related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs used to determine the fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities, are as follows:  
 

 Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement 
date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities  

 Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either 
directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liabilities  

 Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair 
value measurement and unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity)  
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Each major category of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
is categorized based upon the lowest level of significant input to the valuations. The fair value 
hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use 
of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.  
 
Company’s management assessed that cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, 
accrued expenses, and amounts due to related parties approximate their carrying amounts largely 
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. There is no organized market for the finance 
receivables. The carrying value is the amortized cost using the effective interest rate method 
which approximates fair value because contractual interest rates approximate current market 
rates.  
 
The warrant derivative liabilities were valued at fair value using a Black-Scholes model (Note 
13). The embedded derivative liabilities were valued using a Binomial Lattice Model analysis that 
probability weighted various expected conversion prices (Note 12). The estimated fair value of 
the warrant derivative and embedded derivative liabilities would increase or decrease if the 
expected volatility and conversion price was higher or lower. 
 
The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about each major category of the 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:  
 

 
 
  

Quoted Prices
in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

As of December 31, 2021:
Assets:

Investments (Note 6) 85,772$         -$              -$              85,772$         
Liabilities:

Warrant derivative liabilities (Note 13) -$              -$              1,805,665$    1,805,665$    
Embedded derivative liabilities (Note 12) -$              -$              1,072,722$    1,072,722$    

-$              -$              2,878,387$    2,878,387$    
As of December 31, 2020:

Assets:
Investments (Note 6) 316,194$       -$              -$              316,194$       

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using
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The following table shows a reconciliation during the year ended December 31, 2021 for Level 3 
fair values:  

 
The Company had no financial instruments measured at Level 3 for the year ended December 31, 
2020. 
 
Transfers between levels are considered to occur on the date that the fair valuation methodology 
changes. There were no transfers between levels during the current or comparative periods.  
 
Share-based incentive compensation  

 
The Company accounts for share-based awards in accordance with provisions of IFRS 2, Share 
Based Payments, under which the Company recognizes the grant-date fair value of incentive-
based awards issued to employees, consultants and advisors as compensation expense on a graded 
vesting basis over the vesting period of the award. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model to determine the grant-date fair value of restricted awards.  
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at 
the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  
 
Leases  
 
The Company as Lessor  
 
Refer to the revenue recognition policy note.  
 
The Company as Lessee  
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A 
contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to use an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. All leases are accounted for by recognizing a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability except for:  
 Leases of low value assets; and  
 Leases with a duration of twelve months or less.  

 
These exceptions are practical expedients that the Company has adopted. Lease liabilities are 
measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term, 

Warrant 
derivative 
liabilities

 Embedded 
derivative 
liabilities Total

Balance at December 31, 2020 -$                -$                -$                
Convertible notes conversion option (Note 12) -                  1,960,393        1,960,393        
Warrants issued in connection with convertible

notes (Note 13) 1,966,775        -                  1,966,775        
Net change in fair value (unrealized) (161,110)         (887,671)         (1,048,781)       

Balance at December 31, 2021 1,805,665$      1,072,722$      2,878,387$      



XS Financial Inc. 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 

   

19 
 

with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is 
typically the case) this is not readily determinable, in which case the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only included 
in the measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the 
initial measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged 
throughout the lease term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they 
relate.  
 
On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:  
 Amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;  
 The exercise price of any purchase option granted in favor of the Company if it is reasonable 

certain to assess that option; and  
 Any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on 

the basis of termination option being exercised.  
 

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any 
lease incentives received, and increased for:  
 Lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;  
 Initial direct costs incurred; and  
 The amount of any provision recognized where the Company is contractually required to 

dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset.  
 

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a 
constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use 
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the 
remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the lease term. 
 
When the Company revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses 
the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying 
amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are 
discounted at the same discount rate that applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of 
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent 
on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value 
of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortized over the remaining 
(revised) lease term. 
 
The Company has no lease obligations with a duration of twelve months or more for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.  
 
Foreign currency translation  
 
The functional currency accounts are translated into the presentation currency by translating 
assets and liabilities at exchange rates in effect at the reporting date. Equity accounts are 
translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average 
exchange rate for the period, if this is considered a reasonable approximate to actual rates, or at 
the rate on the date of the transaction. Any resulting gain or loss is recorded as a component of 
other comprehensive loss.  
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Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the period-end exchange rates 
are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are not re-translated.  

 
Income taxes  
 
The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities for accounting purposes, and their 
respective tax bases.  

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted and applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in statutory tax rates is recognized in profit or loss in the year of change. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.  
 
The Company had no uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

Earnings per share  
 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss by the weighted average number of shares / 
units outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing the loss by the 
weighted average number of shares / units and other dilutive units outstanding during the period. 
For the periods presented, the effect of the dilutive instruments on loss per share / units would be 
anti-dilutive, therefore, basic loss per share / units equals diluted loss per share / units.  
 
New standards and interpretations recently adopted 

Effective January 1, 2020 the Company has adopted IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 
(“IAS 1”) and IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (“IAS 
8”), which were amended in October 2018 to refine the definition of materiality and clarify its 
characteristics.  The revised definition focuses on the idea that information is material if omitting, 
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary 
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The 
Company has concluded there was no impact on its financial statements and related disclosures 
upon the adoption of the amended standards for IAS 1 and IAS 8.  

Effective January 1, 2020 the Company has adopted IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (“IFRS 
3”), which was amended in October 2018 to clarify the definition of a business.  This amended 
definition states that a business must include inputs and a process and clarified that the process 
must be substantive, and the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to operating 
outputs.  In addition it narrows the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs 
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on goods and services provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather 
than on providing dividends or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs and 
added a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather 
than a business, if the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset 
or group of similar assets. The Company has concluded there was no impact on its financial 
statements and related disclosures upon the adoption of the amended standard for IFRS 3.  

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting 
periods commencing on or after January 1, 2020. Many are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company and have been excluded. The following have not yet been 
adopted and are being evaluated to determine their impact on the Company. 
 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended in January 2020 to provide 
a more general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual 
arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or noncurrent is based solely on a company’s right to defer settlement at the 
reporting date. The right needs to be unconditional and must have substance. The amendments 
also clarify that the transfer of a company’s own equity instruments is regarded as settlement of a 
liability, unless it results from the exercise of a conversion option meeting the definition of an 
equity instrument. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 
2023. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company will adopt these amendments as of their 
effective date, and is currently assessing the impacts on adoption. 
 
IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”) was amended. The 
amendments clarify that when assessing if a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the contract 
includes all costs that relate directly to the contract – i.e. a full-cost approach. Such costs include 
both the incremental costs of the contract (i.e. costs a company would avoid if it did not have the 
contract) and an allocation of other direct costs incurred on activities required to fulfill the 
contract – e.g. contract management and supervision, or depreciation of equipment used in 
fulfilling the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 
2022. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company will adopt these amendments as of their 
effective date, and is currently assessing the impacts on adoption. 

(3) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 above, the 
Company’s management are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these assumptions.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that have the 
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most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are 
described below.  
 
Depreciation of Servicing Equipment and Property and Equipment and Estimate of Useful Lives  
 
Depreciation of servicing and property and equipment is dependent upon estimates of useful 
lives. The Company estimates the useful lives of these assets based on the period over which the 
assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the relevant assets.  
 
Long-Lived Assets and Impairment  

Long-lived assets, such as servicing equipment and property and equipment, are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset 
may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group be tested for 
possible impairment, the Company estimates its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognized to the extent the carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. Fair value is 
determined using various valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models, quoted 
market values, and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary.  
 
Share-based Incentive Compensation  
 
The Company determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation 
techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are 
determined at the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are 
made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments 
include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, expected dividend yield, future 
employee turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise behaviors and corporate 
performance. Such judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain. Changes in these 
assumptions affect the fair value estimates. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair 
value for share-based payment transactions is disclosed in Note 16. The expected volatility 
assumptions for the Company’s option and warrant grants are based on both the Company’s and 
comparable companies volatility. 
 
Derivative Liabilities  
 
Derivative liabilities are initially recognized at fair value on the date entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
fair value of any derivative instrument are recognized immediately as a component of other 
expense (income) in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. The fair value of 
the derivative liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the assumptions made for 
the inputs in the valuation models. See Notes 12 and 13.  
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Compound Financial Instruments  
 
The initial recognition of the compound financial instruments requires that the liability 
component and the conversion feature are recognized separately. Judgement is required to 
determine whether the conversion feature meets the definition of equity or a derivative liability. 
The fair values at initial recognition is subject to measurement uncertainty. See Note 12. 
 
Functional Currency Determination  
 
The functional currency for the Company and its subsidiaries is the currency of the primary  
economic environment in which the entity operates.  
 
Determination of functional currency is conducted through an analysis of the consideration 
factors identified in IAS 21. The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates may involve 
certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment. The Company reconsiders the 
functional currency of its entities if there is a change in events and conditions which determine 
the primary economic environment. Significant changes to those underlying factors could cause a 
change to the functional currency.  
 
Determination of Discount Rates  
 
Determination of the discount rate for term loans and convertible debentures is based on 
comparison to similar interest-bearing debt instruments of a group of comparative companies.  
 
Determination of Financing Lease or Operating Lease  
 
In making the determination of whether an arrangement should be accounted for as a financing 
lease or an operating lease, the Company makes certain assumptions including, the interest 
implicit in the lease and the residual value of the equipment at the end of the lease.  
 
Expected Credit Losses  
 
See Note 7.  
 
Definition of a Business  

 
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed constitute a business 
under IFRS 3 requires the Company to make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and 
circumstances.  
 
Contingencies  
 
See Note 12 and 17. 
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Income, Value Added, Withholding and Other Taxes 
 
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the Company's provisions for taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the Company's 
income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws 
and regulations. The Company is also subject to tax regulations as they relate to flow-through 
financing arrangements. The Company's interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions 
and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related filings 
are subject to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income 
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

(4) Revenue 

The following table presents a disaggregation of revenue by source and timing of revenue 
recognition:  
 
 

2021 2020

Revenue source:
Financing and other income on financing leases (Note 7) 3,158,562$    533,210$      
Operating leases -               143,250        

3,158,562$    676,460$      

Timing of revenue recognition under IFRS 15
 from contracts with customers:
Services transferred over time -$                143,250$      

Year Ended December 31,

 
Revenue concentration 

All of the Company’s revenue is derived from customers in the United States with three 
customers representing 35%, 25%, and 24% for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 40%, 
15% and 14% of the Company’s recognized revenue for the year ended December31, 2020.  
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(5) Expenses by nature 

The following tables presents an analysis of expense by nature: 
 
 

2021 2020
Administrative expenses:

Compensation and benefits 1,072,324$       154,103$          
Incentive compensation 688,045           341,324           
Contractors and outside services 534,173           235,773           
Management fee 171,001           487,201           
Professional fees 982,358           549,702           
Office rent, utilities and expenses 2,400               23,786             
Travel, meals and entertainment 41,483             11,670             
Insurance 188,672           204,015           
Depreciation expense 17,498             94,519             
Other expenses 139,876           217,088           

3,837,830         2,319,181$       

Sales and marketing expenses:
Compensation and benefits 131,847$          104,509$          
Contractors and outside services 54,700             96,300             
Professional fees -                  22,315             
Advertising and marketing 57,970             83,360             
Other expenses 5,586               2,856               

250,103$          309,340$          

Year ended December 31,
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(6) Investments 

In January 2020, the Company entered into a strategic partnership and cooperation agreement 
with KushCo Holdings Co. Inc. (“KushCo”), a CDN publicly listed company, whereby the 
Company issued 10,600.3 proportionate voting shares at a share price of approximately 
$309CAD ($236) (Note 14) for total consideration of $3,273,100 in exchange for 1,653,081 
shares of KushCo valued at the fair value of the KushCo shares at the time of receipt based on the 
quoted market price on the date of the transaction. In August 2021, KushCo mergered with 
Greenlane Holdings, Inc. (“Greenlane”), a NASDAQ publicly listed company. The Company 
received 0.3016 shares of Greenlane common stock for each share of KushCo common stock 
owned, and Greenlane became the holders of the Company’s 10,600.3 proportionate voting 
shares. 
 
The Company recorded the shares received from KushCo as investments on the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Investments are classified at FVTPL. In November and December 
2020, the Company sold an aggregate of 1,257,839 shares of the KushCo stock for net proceeds 
of $993,890. In July 2021, the Company sold an aggregate of 294,981 shares of the KushCo stock 
for net proceeds of $86,845. The Company recorded realized losses of $98,857 and $1,501,621 at 
FVPL in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the remaining 
investment in Greenlane (formerly KushCo) was re-valued at $85,772 and $316,194, 
respectively. The Company recorded an unrealized change in fair value, resulting in a loss of 
$44,719 and $461,395 in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

(7) Financing receivables 

The following table presents financing receivables:  
 
 

2021 2020
Financing receivables, short-term 9,484,979$       1,454,927$       
Financing receivables, long-term 25,474,255       4,852,768         

34,959,234$      6,307,695$       

December 31,

 
The Company has entered into lease arrangements as a lessor that are considered to be finance 
leases. All of the risks and rewards of ownership of the service equipment assets underlying the 
finance leases are substantially transferred to the lessee.  
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The following table presents a maturity analysis of lease receivables, including the undiscounted 
lease payments to be received as at December 31, 2021:  
 
 2022 13,714,613$      
2023 13,379,809       
2024 11,557,317       
2025 4,393,687         
2026 427,722            
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 43,473,148       
Unearned finance income (8,513,914)        
Net investment in lease 34,959,234$      

 
Allowance for credit losses  
 
The Company measures loss allowances based on an expected credit loss ("ECL") impairment 
model for all financial instruments except those measured at FVTPL. Application of the model 
depends on the following credit stages of the financial assets:  
 
(i) Stage 1 - for new leases recognized and for existing leases that have not experienced a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognized equal to 
the credit losses expected to result from defaults occurring in the next 12 months;  
(ii) Stage 2 - for those leases that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognized equal to the credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the lease; and  
(iii) Stage 3 - for leases that are considered to be credit-impaired, a loss allowance equal to full 
life time ECLs is recognized.  
 
Thus, the evaluation of the allowance for credit losses is performed on a lease by lease basis. 
Definitions of default have been selected to eliminate the judgement that may otherwise be 
necessary, given the diversity within the finance receivable portfolio, the lack of individual 
drivers of changes in credit risk across assets and over time, and the resulting inability to assess 
which specific assets will be rectified. For the purposes of measuring ECL, a default is defined as 
leases and loans that have missed one payment and are not subsequently rectified within 60 days. 
 
The Company is entitled to repossess financed equipment if the borrower defaults on their lease 
obligations. Any amounts recovered from the sale of repossessed equipment are credited to the 
allowance for credit losses when received. 
 
The process of estimating ECLs uses the following inputs and assumptions to reflect information 
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions that are not already 
captured in the inputs: 
 

•  Recoveries of amounts previously written off in the last 12 months, as an estimate of 
recoveries for the next 12 months; 

•  An estimate of the effects of natural disasters and economic shocks that have occurred on 
credit losses in the next 12 months; 
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•  The stage of the business cycle for the industry, which considers: the competitive 
environment, GDP growth, prevailing interest rates and expectations of future rates, fiscal 
policy and inflation rates; and 

•  Current delinquency trends of non-accrual and greater than 30 days delinquency rates. 
  
Determining the inputs listed and ECLs requires significant estimation uncertainty. The 
estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant judgement. 

 
As of December 31, 2021, there are no finance receivables past due or impaired and the Company 
has not recognized and loss allowance for expected credit losses on financing receivables.  

(8) Prepaid and other current assets 

The following table presents prepaid and other current assets: 

 

2021 2020
Prepaid insurance 42,369$            52,292$            
Vendor receivable 37,462              -                   
Canada tax receivable 16,550              6,941                
Other 18,716              20,000              

115,097$           79,233$            

December 31,
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(9) Servicing, property and equipment 

The following table below presents the change in carrying value of the Company's servicing 
property and equipment during the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020: 
  

 
 

 All of the servicing and property and equipment is located in the United States. 
 

Equipment sales 
 

During 2020, the Company sold servicing equipment back to the original supplier of the 
equipment, Khrysos Global Inc. (“Khrysos”), and other third-party buyers for gross proceeds of 
$605,205 with recognized losses of $311,133 recorded as a loss on sale of servicing equipment 
and inventory within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2020.  
 
Depreciation expense related to servicing, property and equipment is included in administrative 
expenses within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.    

  

 
Computers

Machinery and 
equipment

Servicing 
equipment Total

Cost:
Balance at December 31, 2019 8,294$              3,490$              931,717$           943,501$           

Additions 5,327                -                   246,542            251,869            
Equipment sales -                   -                   (1,097,044)         (1,097,044)         
Transfer to inventory -                   -                   (16,390)             (16,390)             

Balance at December 31, 2020 13,621$            3,490$              64,825$            81,936$            
Balance at December 31, 2021 13,621$            3,490$              64,825$            81,936$            

Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance at December 31, 2019 (3,289)$             (989)$                (148,522)$         (4,278)$             

Depreciation (3,948)               (698)                  (89,873)             (94,519)             
Equipment sales -                   -                   205,760            205,760            
Transfer to inventory -                   -                   4,507                4,507                

Balance at December 31, 2020 (7,237)$             (1,687)$             (28,128)$           (37,052)$           
Depreciation (3,786)               (698)                  (13,014)             (17,498)             

Balance at December 31, 2021 (11,023)$           (2,385)$             (41,142)$           (54,550)$           

Net book value:
Balance at December 31, 2020 6,384$              1,803$              36,697$            44,884$            
Balance at December 31, 2021 2,598$              1,105$              23,683$            27,386$            
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(10) Trade and other payables 

The following table presents trade and other payables: 
 
 

2021 2020

Trade payables 1,416,746$       2,238,228$       
Credit card payable 3,858               25,911             

1,420,604$       2,264,139$       

December 31,

 
Trade payables primarily comprise equipment purchases satisfying financing agreements with the 
Company’s customers. 
 

(11) Accrued expenses 
 
The following table presents accrued expenses: 
 
 

2021 2020
Accrued servicing equipment purchases 2,630,511$       990,554$          
Accrued professional fees 82,850             2,504               
Accrued compensation, commissions, benefts and 

related taxes 224,164            85,093             
Accrued sales tax 11,777             33,246             
Accrued other -                  35,744             
Unearned revenue 17,500             2,500               

2,966,802$       1,149,641$       

December 31,
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(12) Loans and borrowings 

The following table presents loans and borrowings outstanding: 
 
  Interest

Description Maturity date rate 2021 2020
Line of credits:

Line of credit November, 2022 8.0% -$                750,000$          
Credit facility September, 2023 11.75% -                  -                  

Term loans:
Customers Bank April, 2022 1.0% -                  55,762             
Syndication notes April, 2024 - July, 2025 12.0% 5,119,620         -                  

Convertible debentures:
Broker debentures March, 2024 10.0% 218,869            218,869            
Sub Receipt debentures September, 2024 10.0% 4,059,242         4,085,852         
Convertible notes October, 2023 9.5% 33,617,250       -                  

43,014,981       5,110,483         
Less:

Unamortized discounts, debt issuance costs, financing costs

and prepaid offering costs 
(1)

(7,393,636)        (2,020,831)        
35,621,345$      3,089,652$       

Non-current 34,334,202$      2,283,890$       

Current 1,287,143$       805,762$          

December 31,

 
Note to the table: 
(1) The carrying value of the broker debentures, and Sub Receipt debentures issued in 2019 were adjusted 

using a discount rate of 25% to reflect the prevailing borrowing rates associated with debt acquired by 
companies with a similar credit risk profile as the Company.  The carrying value of the convertible 
notes issued in 2021 are netted against discounts related to the recognition of derivative liabilities and 
cash issuance costs. The debt discounts are accreted over the life of the respective debt instruments 
using the effective interest method.  
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The following table below shows the change in carrying value of the Company’s loans and 
borrowings during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020: 
 
  Debt discounts,

issuance costs
Line of Term Convertible and deferred
credits loans debentures financing costs Total

Balance at December 31, 2019 -$           600,000$     4,345,017$    (2,366,473)$   
(1)

2,578,544$    

Borrowings 750,000      55,762        -               -               805,762        
Repayments -             (600,000)     -               -               (600,000)       
Conversion of Sub Receipt convertible

debenture -             -             (40,296)         21,964          (18,332)        
Amortization and accretion of debt 

discounts and debt issuance costs -             -             -               323,678        323,678        
Balance at December 31, 2020 750,000$     55,762$      4,304,721$    (2,020,831)$   3,089,652$    

Borrowings 9,200,000    5,765,000    -               -               14,965,000    
Repayments (9,950,000)   (645,380)     -               -               (10,595,380)  
Issuance of convertible notes -             -             33,500,000    (5,998,995)     

(2)
27,501,005    

Issuance of additional convertible 
notes as payment for PIK Interest -             -             117,250        -               117,250        

Conversion of Sub Receipt convertible
debenture -             -             (26,610)         12,255          (14,355)        

Loan forgiveness -             (55,762)       -               -               (55,762)        

Deferred financing costs -             -             -               (253,350)       
(3)

(253,350)       
Amortization and accretion of debt 

discounts, financing costs and debt 
issuance costs -             -             -               867,285        867,285        

Balance at December 31, 2021 -$           5,119,620$  37,895,361$  (7,393,636)$   35,621,345$  

 
Note to the table: 
(1) Represents debt discounts on loan borrowing proceeds and convertible debt issuances, and debt 

issuance costs netted against the gross proceeds of the Sub Receipt debenture issuance in 2019.  
(2) Represents debt discounts of $3,927,168 on the convertible notes issuance in 2021 of which 

$1,960,393 is allocated to embedded derivative liabilities, and $1,966,775 is allocated to warrant 
derivative liabilities, and $2,071,827 of debt issuance costs netted against the gross proceeds of the 
convertible notes.  

(3) Represents deferred financing costs related to the Company’s line of credit borrowings. 
 
Loans and borrowings  (excluding interest), assuming no prepayments are scheduled to be repaid 
as follows: 

 As of December 31,
2022 1,500,400$        
2023 35,302,689        
2024 5,839,009          
2025 372,883            

43,014,981$      
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Convertible debentures 
 
In October 2021, the Company completed a private placement of unsecured convertible debenture 
notes (“convertible notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of $43,500,000, of which 
$33,500,000 million was funded at closing with an additional $10,000,000 available on a delayed 
draw on the same terms until June 30, 2022. The convertible notes mature two years following 
the closing date of the offering subject to a one-year extension at the option of the Company upon 
providing at least 30 days prior notice and issuing additional convertible notes to the holders on a 
pro-rata basis in an aggregate principal amount equal to 1% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the convertible notes outstanding as of the date of the extension notice. Additionally, as part of 
the transaction, one purchaser was entitled to a seat on the Company’s board of directors. 
 
The principal amount outstanding under the convertible notes may be converted by the holders at 
any time prior to the third business day prior to maturity into Shares at a conversion price equal to 
the lesser of: (i) CAD$0.35 per Share; or (ii)(a) the last offering price per security (the “Qualified 
Offering Price”) in one or more prospectus offerings of Shares completed by the Company within 
12 months of the closing of the Offering to raise aggregate gross proceeds of at least 
US$5,000,000 (a “Qualified Offering”) if the date of conversion is prior to the commencement of 
marketing of such Qualified Offering; or (b) 125% of the Qualified Offering Price if the date of 
conversion is after the commencement of marketing of such Qualified Offering, all in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the notes.  
 
Interest on the convertible notes accrue at the rate of (i) 9.50% per annum, of which 7.50% shall 
be payable in cash and the remaining 2.00% shall be payable in kind by the issuance of additional 
convertible notes (“PIK Interest”) and (ii) in the event of the Shares commence trading on a 
market tier of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (a “NASDAQ Listing”), interest shall accrue at a 
rate of 8.00% per annum, of which 6.00% shall be payable in cash, and the remaining 2.00% shall 
be payable as PIK Interest.  
 
In the event of a change of control of the Company, XSF shall be required to redeem the 
convertible notes at a repurchase price equal to the greater of (i) 101% of the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest; and (ii) the product of (x) the number of Shares issuable 
upon conversion of the convertible notes to be redeemed and (y) the “transaction price” of such 
change of control, payable in the same form and amount as would be payable on the underlying 
Shares, all in accordance with the terms and conditions of the notes.  
 
The Company also issued an aggregate of 16,750,000 share purchase warrants being one warrant 
for each US$2.00 principal amount of convertible notes (Note 13). The warrants to be received 
have an exercise price of a $0.45CAD ($0.36) and have a three-year term.  
 
The principal amount of the convertible notes was estimated at a fair value of $31,539,607 at 
issuance with the difference of $1,960,393 reflected as an embedded derivative liability for the 
conversion feature and offset against the convertible notes carrying value as a discount. The 
discount will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the convertible notes under the 
effective interest rate method. Additionally, the Company incurred debt issuance costs, netted 
against the gross proceeds of the issuance, of $2,071,826 in connection with the issuance of the 
convertible notes. The debt issuance costs were recorded as a discount on the convertible notes 
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carrying value and are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the convertible notes 
under the effective interest rate method.  
The Company incurred interest expense related to the convertible debentures of $890,528 and 
$432,588 for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, within the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss.   
 
In July 2021, an investor exercised their conversion feature on $35,000CAD ($26,611) of the Sub 
Receipt debentures and received 31,818 common shares and warrants, respectively.  
 
In January and March 2020, investors exercised their conversion feature on $25,000CAD 
($19,008) and $28,000CAD ($21,288) of the Sub Receipt debentures and received 22,727 and 
25,454 common shares and warrants, respectively.  
 
In March and April 2019, the Company issued $294,000CAD ($218,869) of convertible 
debentures to investment advisors and brokers for services rendered in raising debt subscriptions 
("broker debentures”). The broker debentures mature after 5 years and bear interest at a rate of 
10% per annum payable in cash in equal quarterly installments. The broker debentures convert 
into common shares and warrants at a conversion price of $1.10CAD ($0.82) at the holders’ 
option prior to maturity or upon a change of control. The warrants to be received have an exercise 
price of a $1.50CAD ($1.12) and have a five-year term. Upon a change in control, the Company 
is required to purchase the broker debentures at a price of 105% of the principal balance plus 
accrued, unpaid interest. The Company has accounted for the fair value of the convertible debt at 
issuance of $218,869 as debt issuance costs, within the consolidated statements of financial 
position and is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Sub Receipt debentures 
under the effective interest rate method within the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss. The debt discount of $160,499 is being amortized to interest expense over 
the term of the broker debentures under the effective interest rate method within the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  As of September 11, 2019, with the completion of the 
reverse acquisition, the broker debentures were re-issued through the legal parent entity and the 
underlying functional currency change triggered a reclassification of the debenture liability to 
equity. The fair value of the debenture liability as at September 11, 2019 immediately prior to the 
reclassification was $145,989. 
 
In March and April 2019, the Company completed a private placement of 5,882 subscription 
receipts for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $5,882,000CAD ($4,500,000) and closing 
costs of approximately $560,000 CAD ($426,000). The subscription receipts were held in escrow, 
until satisfaction of the escrow release conditions, at which time each subscription receipt would 
be convertible into one 10% unsecured convertible debenture of the Company in the principal 
amount of $1,000CAD (“Sub Receipt debenture”). On September 11, 2019, the escrow conditions 
were met, and the Company issued $5,882,000CAD ($4,472,085) of convertible debentures (“Sub 
Receipt debentures”) to various investors. The Sub Receipt debentures mature after 5 years and 
bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum payable in cash in equal quarterly installments. The Sub 
Receipt debentures convert into common shares and warrants at a conversion price of $1.10CAD 
($0.82) at the holders’ option prior to maturity or upon a change of control. The warrants to be 
received have an exercise price of a $1.50CAD ($1.12) and have a five-year term. Upon a change 
in control the Company is required to purchase the Sub Receipt debentures at a price of 105% of 
the principal balance plus accrued, unpaid interest.  
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The principal amount of the debenture was estimated at its fair value of $2,630,804 based on a 
discount rate of 25%. The Company incurred debt issuance costs, netted against the gross 
proceeds of the issuance, of $1,398,268CAD ($1,060,821) in connection with the issuance of the 
Sub Receipt debentures, of which $821,332CAD ($623,112) was allocated to the debenture 
liability. The debt issuance costs were recorded as a discount on the Sub Receipt debentures 
carrying value and are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the sub receipts 
convertible debentures under the effective interest rate method. The residual value of the 
debenture of $1,841,281 was allocated to the conversion feature and recorded as a component of 
equity, net of issuance costs of $437,709 and deferred tax impact of $384,000. 
 
Line of credits 

In September 2021, the Company entered into a secured term loan credit facility (“credit 
facility”), with a maximum borrowing base of $15,000,000 and required monthly interest 
payments with all unpaid principal and interest due in September 2023. The maturity date of 
September 2023 can be extended automatically for successive 12-month periods upon mutual 
agreement by both the Company and the lender. The credit facility bears interest at an annual rate 
equal to the Wall Street Journal Prime plus 8.5% with a prime rate floor of no less than 3.25%. 
The credit facility is subject to monthly financial covenants such as maintaining a minimum 
tangible net worth, EBITDA and default rates such as defined in the agreement. Additionally, the 
Company is subject to borrowing requirements whereby the minimum outstanding balance of the 
credit facility must equal or exceed $2,500,000 90 days after the effective date of the credit 
facility agreement, and $7,500,000 one year after the effective date of the credit facility 
agreement and thereafter during the remaining term or the credit facility agreement. The 
Company was in compliance with its financial covenants as of December 31, 2021. 
 
Under the credit facility, the Company sells financing arrangements (“finance receivables’) to 
XSF SPC, LLC (“SPC”), a wholly-owned limited liability company of XSF. In turn, SPC grants, 
without recourse, a senior undivided interest in the financed receivables and the underlying 
equipment to the lender in exchange for cash while maintaining a subordinated undivided interest, 
in the form of over-collateralization, in the leased receivables. The Company has agreed to 
continue servicing the receivables for SPC at market rates; accordingly, no servicing asset or 
liability has been recorded. Although SPC is a wholly-owned consolidated subsidiary of the 
Company, SPC is legally separate from the Company and its subsidiaries. Upon and after the sale 
or contribution of the lease receivables to SPC, such lease receivables are legally assets of SPC, 
and as such are not available to creditors of other subsidiaries or the parent company.  
 
The Company is subject to certain fees under the credit facility including an origination fee equal 
to the greater of $25,000 or 1% of the Company’s first borrowing and 1% of each loan borrowing 
thereafter with a minimum fee of $75,000 in the first year of the credit facility. Additionally, the 
Company is subject to an anniversary fee due equal to the greater of $37,500 or 0.50% of the 
outstanding credit facility balance on each anniversary of the credit facility agreement. As of 
December 31, 2021, the Company has incurred fees and other financing costs of $231,029 related 
to credit facility. The fees and financing costs were recorded net of the credit facility carrying 
value and are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the credit facility under the 
effective interest rate method. The Company incurred interest expense related to the credit facility 
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of $76,885, within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2021.  
 
In November 2020, the Company entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility (“line of 
credit”), with a maximum borrowing base of $2,000,000 and required monthly interest payments 
with all principal and unpaid interest payments due in November 2022. In July 2021, the 
Company increased the maximum borrowing base to $4,000,000. The line of credit bears interest 
at an annual rate equal to the greater of (i) 8.0% per annum or (ii) the Wall Street Journal Prime 
plus 4.0% and may be prepaid with no penalty at any time. The line of credit is subject to 
monthly financial covenants such as maintaining a maximum total leverage ratio and tangible net 
worth, such as defined in the agreement. The Company was in compliance with its financial 
covenants as of December 31, 2021. The line of credit is secured by substantially all of the assets 
of the Company. The Company incurred financing costs of $22,321 related to the increase in the 
line of credit borrowing base. The financing costs were recorded net of the line of credit carrying 
value and are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the line of credit under the 
effective interest rate method. The Company incurred interest expense related to the line of credit 
of $100,680 and $2,764, within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for 
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  
 
Term loans 

In February 2021, the Company launched its syndication platform by way of entering into 
promissory note agreements (“syndication notes”) with third-party lenders totaling $5,765,000 
with maturity dates ranging from April 2024 to July 2025. The syndication notes bear interest at 
rates between 10.25% and 12% per annum, payable monthly. Each syndication note is secured by 
the lease payment streams and the underlying equipment of certain finance leases the Company 
has entered into with customers. The Company incurred interest expense related to the 
syndication notes of $264,796 within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
for the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively.  
 
In December 2020, the Company repaid a $600,000 term loan from a related party (Note 17) that 
bore interest at a rate of 12% per annum, payable monthly. Prior to May 2020 the term loan bore 
an interest rate of 18% per annum. The Company incurred interest expense of $80,129 within the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.  
 
In April 2020, the Company entered into a promissory note with a third-party lender to borrow 
$55,762 under the U.S. government’s Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) via the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act.  Under the provisions of the PPP, loan 
proceeds are expected to be used for payroll costs, rent and utilities.  The promissory note is 
unsecured, with a maturity date of April 29, 2022, accrues interest at 1.00% and requires eighteen 
fixed scheduled monthly amortization payments commencing in November 2020. In November 
2021, the term loan was forgiven, and the Company recorded a gain on forgiveness of $55,762 as 
other income, within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 
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Summary of financing expense, net 
 
As detailed individually above, financing expense, net, consisted of: $177,565 and $2,764 related 
to line of credits, $264,796 and $80,129 related to term loans and $890,528 and $432,588 related 
to convertible debentures for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  
Additionally, the Company recorded $3,602 and $4,501 related to the financing of insurance for 
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.   
 
Embedded derivative liabilities 

The conversion feature of the convertible notes was considered an embedded derivative liability 
as the conversion price is not fixed. The Company performed a Binomial Lattice Model analysis 
that probability weighted various expected conversion prices, resulting in a fair value of 
$1,960,393 determined at issuance, and accounted for the embedded derivative liabilities as a 
long-term liability within the statements of financial position. At December 31, 2021 the 
embedded derivative liabilities were re-valued at $1,072,722 with the change in fair value of 
$887,671 reflected in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 
 
The fair value of the embedded derivative liabilities was determined using a Binomial Lattice 
Model with the following assumptions as of December 31, 2021, and at issuance: 
 
  December 31, 

2021 At issuance
Expected dividend yield - -
Expected volatility 100.0% 100.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% 0.5%
Expected term 1.8 years 2 years
Conversion / share price $ Various $ Various  

Redeemable common stock 

In July 2018, Archytas and another member exercised the conversion feature of term loans held 
with the Company and received a combined 6,737,588 shares of Class A common shares. The 
Company classified $650,000 of the amount converted as redeemable common share stock 
liability within the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2019 as this 
represented amounts subject to rescission related to a U.S. governmental investigation of the 
Member’s finances. An escrow balance of $650,000 was maintained by Archytas on behalf of the 
Company to satisfy the obligation. In December 2020, the matter was resolved resulting in 
Archytas remitting the $650,000 amount held in escrow to the U.S. government and the Company 
reversing the $650,000 redeemable common stock liability with an offset to shareholders’ equity 
(Note 14).    
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(13) Warrants 

The following table summarizes warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020: 
  Weighted

average
Number of exercise price
warrants per share

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 8,466,908      1.02$            
Granted 48,181           1.10$            
Expired (1,140,012)     0.66$            

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 7,375,077      0.12$            
Granted 59,850,200    0.39$            
Expired (586,818)        0.82$            

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 66,638,459    0.37$            

 
Warrant issuances 
 
In January and March 2020, the Company issued 48,181 of warrants related to the conversion of 
Sub Receipt debentures (Note 13).  The warrants have a term of five years and exercise price of 
$1.50CAD ($1.05 - $1.15) per share. The warrants had a value of $13,223 on the date of issue 
based on the allocation of the total carrying value of the debenture liability and conversion feature 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.     

In March 2021, the Company issued 40,709,731 common share warrants, of which 1,450,000 of 
the warrants were satisfaction for a corporate financing fee, and 5,251 proportionate voting share 
warrants related to a private placement equity issuance (Note 14). The warrants have a term of 
two years and exercise prices of $0.45CAD ($0.36) per share for the common share warrants and 
$450CAD ($360) per share for the proportionate voting share warrants. The non-corporate 
financing fee warrants had a value of $5,377,706CAD ($4,267,007) on the date of issue using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model and were recorded as a component of equity within the 
consolidated statements of financial position. The corporate financing fee warrants had a value of 
$175,194CAD ($137,595) on the date of issue using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and 
were recorded as a component of equity as non-cash equity issuance costs within the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 

In connection with the private placement the Company issued an additional 2,353,400 common 
share warrants to brokers and agents for services rendered in the private placement equity 
issuance. The warrants entitle the holder to acquire one unit at a price of $0.30CAD ($0.24) for a 
period of two years from the date of issuance. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
warrant. The warrants to be received have an exercise price of a $0.45CAD ($0.36) and have a 
two-year term. The warrants had a value of $561,809CAD ($442,508) on the date of issue using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model and were recorded as a component of equity as non-cash 
equity issuance costs within the consolidated statements of financial position. 

In July 2021, the Company issued 31,818 of warrants related to the conversion of Sub Receipt 
debentures (Note 12). The warrants have a term of five years and exercise price of $1.50CAD 
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($1.20) per share. The warrants had a value of $9,660 on the date of issue based on the allocation 
of the total carrying value of the debenture liability and conversion feature using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. 
 
In October 2021, in connection with the private placement of unsecured convertible notes (Note 
12), the Company issued 16,750,000 of common share warrants. The warrants have a term of three 
years and an exercise price of $0.45CAD ($0.36) per share. The warrants had a value of $0.15CAD 
($0.13) on the date of issue based on the allocation of the total carrying value of the convertible 
notes using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company recorded $2,395,079CAD 
($1,966,775) as a derivative liability as the exercise price is not fixed with an offset reflected as a 
discount to carrying value of the convertible notes within the consolidated statements of financial 
position. At December 31, 2021, the warrant derivative liabilities were re-valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model at $2,250,527CAD ($1,805,665) with a change in fair value of 
$144,552CAD ($161,110) reflected in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

The grant date fair value of the warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the following assumptions during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

 

  

  December 31, 2020

2021 issuances

Common 
share

Common 
share

Common 
share

Proportionate 
voting share Broker

Sub Receipt 
debenture

Sub Receipt 
debenture

warrants warrants warrants warrants warrants warrants warrants
Expected dividend yield - - - - - - -
Expected volatility 145.7% 147.4% 156.3% 156.3% 156.3% 150.1% 90.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 1.0% 0.8 - 1.6%
Expected term 2.8 years 3 years 2 years 2 years 2 years 5 years 4.5 - 4.7 years
Conversion / share price $ 0.36               $ 0.36               $ 0.36               360.00           $ 0.24               $ 1.20               $ 1.05 - 1.15

Debenture issuance
2021 issuances

Sub Receipt conversionEquity issuance
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The following table presents warrants outstanding at December 31, 2021: 

 
The weighted average remaining term for outstanding warrants is 1.7 years, and the weighted 
average exercise price is $0.47CAD ($0.37) as at December 31, 2021. 
 

(14) Share capital 

As at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company has an unlimited number of 
authorized common and proportionate voting shares with no par value. Proportionate voting 
shares can be converted into common shares at the option of the holders at a ratio of 1,000 to 1 
upon approval of the Company’s Resulting Issuer Board and satisfaction of the condition that 
greater than 40% of common and proportionate shareholders are US residents. On all voting 
matters, common shareholders are entitled to one vote and proportionate voting shareholders are 
entitled to 1,000 votes per proportionate voting share. Generally, in all other matters the 
proportionate voting shareholders have the same rights as the common shareholders and will be 
treated as if they were one class of shares. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had 
75,526,443 and 32,337,724 issued and outstanding common shares and 28,358 and 23,107 issued 
and outstanding proportionate voting shares, respectively.  

Share issuances 

In January 2020, the Company issued 10,600.3 proportionate voting shares at a share price of 
approximately $309CAD ($236) to KushCo for total consideration of $3,273,100 in exchange for 
1,653,081 shares of KushCo valued at the fair value of the KushCo shares at the time of receipt 
based on the quoted market price on the date of the transaction (Note 6). On completion of the 
share swap, KushCo became a 19.9% shareholder of the Company. In August 2021, KushCo 
mergered with Greenlane Holdings, Inc. (“Greenlane”), at which time Greenlane became the 
holders of the Company’s 10,600.3 proportionate voting shares. 

Number of Number of
Expiration Term warrants warrants Exercise Exercise

date (years) outstanding exercisable price US $ price CAD $
Common share warrants:

3-Mar-23 2 40,709,731    40,709,731    0.36$          0.45$          
3-Mar-23 2 2,353,400      2,353,400      0.36$          0.45$          
12-Apr-24 5 500,000        500,000        0.82$          1.10$          
11-Sep-24 5 374,308        374,308        0.82$          1.10$          
11-Sep-24 5 5,452,134      5,452,134      1.12$          1.50$          
11-Sep-24 5 363,636        363,636        1.13$          1.50$          
11-Sep-24 5 50,000          50,000          1.14$          1.50$          
11-Sep-24 5 22,727          22,727          1.16$          1.50$          
11-Sep-24 5 25,454          25,454          1.05$          1.50$          
11-Sep-24 5 31,818          31,818          1.20$          1.50$          
1-Oct-24 3 16,750,000    16,750,000    0.36$          0.45$          

Proportionate voting share warrants:
3-Mar-23 2 5,251            5,251            355.55$      450.00$      

Total 66,638,459    66,638,459    
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In January and March 2020, the Company issued 22,727 and 25,454 common shares, 
respectively, on the conversion of Sub Receipt debentures (Note 12). Total shareholders’ equity 
increased $18,332 as a result of this conversion.  

In May 2020, the Company issued a combined 950,000 common shares at a share prices ranging 
between $0.26CAD ($0.18) and $0.30CAD ($0.18), valued at the fair value of the shares 
provided at the time of issuance, to two separate service providers as consideration for a finder’s 
fee earned on a new customer lease transaction and marketing services provided. The Company 
recorded $108,000 as a direct cost of the customer lease in the statements of financial position as 
of September 30, 2020 and $63,000 as sales and marketing expense within the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

In July 2020, the Company issued 450,761 common shares at a share price of $0.29CAD ($0.21) 
as consideration for the purchase of a California lenders license from CA Licensed Lenders LLC. 
The Company recorded $96,237 as professional fee transaction expense within the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

In July 2020, the Company issued 119,047 common shares at a share price of $0.21CAD ($0.16) 
to a third-party service provider for settlement of an obligation for services provided. The 
Company recorded $19,047 as marketing expense within the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

In November and December 2020, the Company issued 783,061 common shares at share prices 
ranging between $0.17CAD ($0.13) and $0.19CAD ($0.15), based on the value of the services 
provided, to consultants, board members and a related party (Archytas), (Note 17) as 
consideration for services performed. The Company recorded $97,450 and $14,020 as general 
and administrative and sales and marketing expense, respectively, within the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

In December 2020, the Company recorded $650,000 of previously recorded redeemable common 
stock as a component of shareholders equity (Note 12).  

In February and March 2021, the Company received gross proceeds of $13,353,219CAD 
($10,595,270), including $1,575,300 CAD ($1,249,940) from a related party Archytas (Note 17), 
net of cash issuance costs of  $914,667CAD ($720,141), from the issuance of 39,259,731 units at 
a price $0.30CAD ($0.24) and 5,251 proportionate voting units at a price $300CAD ($238). Each 
unit consists of one common share and one warrant. The warrants to be received have an exercise 
price of a $0.45CAD ($0.36) and $450CAD ($360) for the units and  proportionate voting units, 
respectively, and have a two-year term (Note 13). The Company recorded $7,975,513CAD 
($6,328,263) of the unit value as share capital with the residual value of  $5,377,706CAD 
($4,267,007) allocated to warrants (Note 13) and recorded as a component of equity within the 
consolidated statements of financial position. 

In connection with the private placement the Company issued an additional 2,353,400 warrants to 
brokers and agents which entitled the holder to acquire one unit at a price of $0.30CAD ($0.24) 
for a period of two years from the date of issuance (Note 13), and an aggregate of 1,450,000 units 
in satisfaction of a corporate finance fee. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
warrant. The warrants to be received have an exercise price of a $0.45CAD ($0.36) and have a 
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two-year term. The corporate financing fee common shares had a value of $259,824CAD 
($204,064) on the date of issue using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and were recorded 
as a component of equity as non-cash equity issuance costs within the consolidated statements of 
financial position. 

In March and June 2021, the Company issued 2,447,170 common shares at share prices ranging 
between $0.22CAD ($0.19) and $0.37CAD ($0.30), based on the value of the services provided, 
to consultants and a related party (Archytas) (Note 17), as consideration for services performed. 
The Company recorded $404,563CAD ($321,005) for 1,348,542 of the common shares issued as 
a reduction to accrued expenses for previously accrued bonuses, within the consolidated 
statements of financial position, and $314,293CAD ($254,001) for the remaining 1,098,628 of 
common shares issued as general and administrative expense, within the consolidated statements 
of loss and comprehensive loss for the nine months ended December 31, 2021, respectively. 

In July 2021, the Company issued 31,818 common shares, respectively, on the conversion of Sub 
Receipt debentures (Note 12). Total shareholders’ equity increased $14,356 as a result of this 
conversion.  
 

(15) Income taxes 
 
Provision for income taxes  
 
Major items causing the Company’s effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 
Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 21.0% (2020 – US federal and state statutory 
rate of 26.5%) were as follows: 
 

 
Deferred income tax  

The nature of deferred tax assets that have not been recognized because it is not probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the benefits therefrom 
is summarized as follows: 
 

2021 2020

(Loss) before income taxes (2,985,421)$  (5,053,322)$   

Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (627,000)       (1,061,000)    
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:

Stock Based Compensation 144,000        72,000          
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (3,000)          (1,000)          
Tax assets acquired in reverse acquisition -              -               
Other 166,000        355,000        
Change in foreign exchange rates (115,000)       (22,000)         
Change in tax rates -              412,000        
Change in benefit of tax assets not recognized 435,000        245,000        

Deferred income tax recovery -$             -$             
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As at December 31, 2021, the Company had Canadian non-capital losses of approximately 
$4,079,000 CAD ($5,113,000) (2020 - $3,580,000) that expire from 2031 to 2040. As at 
December 31, 2021, the Company had United States net operating losses of approximately 
$11,967,000 (2020 - $11,842,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely.  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the benefits. 
 

(16) Share-based compensation 

In September 2019, the Company established the Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan”) 
which replaced and governs all options under the Company’s previously issued 2018 Stock 
Option Plan.  The Omnibus plan was revised in August 2021.  The Incentive Plan provides for the 
granting of up 15% of outstanding shares and is not to exceed a maximum of 75,000,000 
share-based equity incentive compensation awards such as stock options and restricted stock 
awards to directors, officers, employees, contractors, and advisors, as determined by the 
Company’s board of directors.  
 
In April and December 2020, the Company granted a total of 1,825,454 options to employees, 
directors, and consultants of the Company. The April 2020 and December 2020 stock option 
grants have exercise prices of $0.22CAD ($0.16), and $0.23CAD ($0.18), respectively, and 
vested immediately. A total of 375,550 stock options were granted to directors and officers.  
 
The Company cancelled 450,875 and 150,000 issued options in the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively  as a result of the resignation of certain employees of the Company.  
 
In March, April, June and September 2021, the Company granted a total of 13,648,840 options to 
employees, directors and consultants of the Company with exercise prices ranging between 
$0.20CAD ($0.16) and $0.33CAD ($0.27). The options have terms of five years, with vesting 

2021 2020

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities:
Non-capital loss carry-forwards -$            -$             
Other temporary differences -              -               

Deferred income tax liability -$            -$             

Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets 2021 2020
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of 
the following deductible temporary differences:

Non-capital loss carry-forwards 17,092,000$  15,422,000$  
Share issue costs 331,000        331,000        
Other temporary differences (1,381,000)    (1,475,000)    

Total 16,042,000$  14,278,000$  

December 31,

December 31,
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terms either immediately or over three years. A total of 8,686,946 stock options were granted to 
directors and officers. 

The per-share grant date weighted average fair value of stock options was estimated at $0.18 and 
$0.10 on the date of grant for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 
 

2021 2020
Expected dividend yield - -
Expected volatility 148.3% - 156.5% 128.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1% 0.3%
Expected term 3.5 years 3 years
Share price $ 0.16 - 0.27 0.16 - 0.18

Year ended December 31,

 
 
The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Option Plan for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020:  

  Weighted Weighted
average average

Number of exercise price remaining contractual

shares per share term (years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 3,010,129      0.38$           6.2                              

Granted 1,825,454      0.16$           
Cancelled / forfeited (150,000)       0.26$           

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 4,685,583      0.30$           4.9                              

Granted 13,648,840    0.18$           

Cancelled / forfeited (450,875)       0.21$           

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 17,883,548    0.21$           4.5                              

Exercisable and vested at December 31, 2021 8,454,173      0.25$           4.2                              

 

As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately $1,121,000 (2020 - $48,000) of unrecognized 
compensation expense related to unvested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over 
a weighted average period of 1.9 years (2020 – 0.5 years). 

The Company recorded compensation expense for stock options of $688,045 and $341,324 for 
the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. 
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The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2021: 

  Weighted Average
Exercise Exercise Remaining Number of Number of

Expiry Price Price Contractual Life Options Options
Date US $ CAD $ (years) Outstanding Vested

July 2028 0.60$    0.78$    6.55                  1,016,694    1,016,694      
November 2024 0.26$    0.34$    2.90                  1,730,000    1,730,000      
April 2025 0.16$    0.22$    3.30                  1,471,449    1,471,449      
December  2025 0.18$    0.23$    3.95                  16,565        16,565           
March  2026 0.26$    0.33$    4.23                  1,880,180    895,805         
April  2026 0.27$    0.33$    4.32                  360,000       360,000         
June  2026 0.25$    0.30$    4.44                  148,660       148,660         
September  2026 0.16$    0.20$    4.69                  11,260,000  2,815,000      

0.21$    0.27$    4.45                  17,883,548  8,454,173      

 
(17) Related party transactions 

 
The following presents balances and transactions between the Company and other related parties 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.  
 
Key management personnel 
 
Key employees include executive management with the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The following table presents 
compensation and benefit expenses of key employees:  
 
 

2021 2020
Salaries, contractor costs, management 

fees and benefits 1,097,070$    668,508$      
Incentive compensation (non-cash) 367,741        63,385          

1,464,811$    731,893$      

December 31,
Year ended

 
See also Notes 14 and 16. 
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Related party transactions and amounts due to related parties   

The following table presents expenses incurred on behalf of the Company and assets purchased 
from related parties for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

  Archytas

Amounts due to related parties at December 31, 2019 -$                
Interest expense 86,129             
Management fee 146,200            
Management fee bonus 255,000            
Operating expenses 1,486               
Less payments to related parties (232,329)          

Amounts due to related parties at December 31, 2020 256,486$          

Management fee 171,001            

Operating expenses 1,849               

Less payment through issuance of common shares (426,001)          

Less payments to related parties (1,486)              
Amounts due to related parties at December 31, 2021 1,849$             

 

In March 2021, the Company received gross proceeds of $1,249,940 from Archytas related to the 
issuance of 5.251 proportionate voting shares to Archytas (Note 14).   

Effective January 2019, the Company entered into a management services agreement with 
Archytas at a monthly rate of $28,667 and a term of five years, with one-year automatic renewals, 
whereby Archytas will provide day-to-day executive management and support to the Company. 
Archytas is a shareholder of the Company, having been involved in the initial formation of XSI. 
In May and June 2020, the Company lowered the monthly rate to $20,067 as part of a 30% cost 
reduction to the Company’s management team, employees and external consultants. In June 2020 
the management services agreement was amended to reduce the monthly rate to $nil for July, 
August, and September 2020. In December 2020, the management services agreement was 
further amended to adjust the form of compensation to common stock for October, November and 
December 2020. As a result, the Company issued 600,855 of common shares to Archytas (Note 
14), and recorded $86,000 of management fee expense, within the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss. The Company recorded a total of $487,201 of management fee expense 
within the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 
31, 2020. In March and June 2021, the Company authorized the issuance of 1,890,824 common 
shares to Archytas as payment for a 2020 management fee bonus and the 2021 first and second 
quarter management fees (Note 14). The Company recorded $255,000 as a reduction to accrued 
expenses for previously accrued bonuses, within the consolidated statements of financial position, 
and $171,001 as management fee expense, within the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021.  

In July 2021, the Company and Archytas mutually agreed to terminate the management services 
agreement and the Company entered into employment agreements with the Company’s CEO, 
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COO and VP of Corporate Development all of whom previously provided services to the 
Company under the management services agreement. The Company is party to certain 
management contracts. These contracts may require payments upon the occurrence of termination 
on change in control of the Company, as defined by each officer’s respective consulting 
agreement. As a triggering event has not taken place, the contingent payments have not been 
reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

Related party loans and borrowings  

In December 2020, a $600,000 term loan with Archytas was repaid in full (Note 12).  

In August and November 2021, the Company entered into syndication term loans (Note 12) with 
certain officers and directors of the Company with borrowings totaling $550,000 and repayments 
totaling $36,561 resulting in a balance outstanding of $513,439 as of December 31, 2021. 

(18) Financial instrument risk exposures 

Financial risk management  

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The 
Board mitigates these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s risk 
management processes: 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if a customer or third party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying 
amount of cash, trade and other receivables and financing receivables. The Company does not 
have significant credit risk with respect to customers as all payments are direct debited from 
customer accounts and all customers go through initial and periodic qualitative and quantitative 
credit analysis to evaluate and mitigate credit risk. All cash is placed with recognized U.S. and 
Canadian financial institutions. The Company provides credit to its customers in the normal 
course of business and has established credit evaluation and monitoring processes to mitigate 
credit risk.  The Company has not recognized any loss allowance for expected credit losses on the 
trade and financing receivables as of December 31, 2021. See also Note 7.  

The Company is entitled to repossess financed equipment if the lessee defaults on their contract in 
order to minimize any credit losses.  

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk through the 
management of its capital structure. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure 
that it will have sufficient liquidity to settle obligations and liabilities when due.  
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At December 31, 2021, the Company had current assets of $26,804,874 and current liabilities of 
$7,482,063.  All current liabilities are classified as due within one year.  

At December 31, 2021, the Company also has the following obligations due   
 
  Less than 6 

months
6 months to 1 

years 1 to 3 years Over 3 years

Trade and other payables 1,420,604$           -$                    -$                    -$                    
Accrued expenses 2,966,802             -                      -                      -                      
Amounts due to related parties 1,849                   -                      -                      -                      

Loans and borrowings 
(1)

728,400               772,000               41,514,581           -                      
Balance at December 31, 2021 5,117,655$           772,000$              41,514,581$         -$                    

 
Note to the table: 
(1) Represents undiscounted loans and borrowings.  
 
Market risk  

Currency risk  

The Company has determined its functional currency to be the Canadian dollar and U.S. dollar.  
The operating results and financial position of the Company are reported in U.S. dollars. The 
Company has minimal financial transactions denominated in currencies other than the Canadian 
and U.S. dollar. The Company has no hedging agreements in place with respect to foreign 
exchange rates.  The following table presents financial instruments in CAD currency subject to 
currency risk: 
 
 

2021 2020
Tax receivable 20,920$            8,836$             
Trade payable 47,021$            69,128$            

Loans and borrowings 
(1)

5,633,000$       5,668,000$       

December 31,

 
 
Note to the table: 
(1) Represents broker debentures and sub receipt convertible debentures (Note 12).   

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s line of credit  is subject to 
fluctuations in interest rates and therefore exposes the Company to interest rate fair value risk. 
The remainder of the Company’s financial debt and lease receivables have fixed rates of interest 
resulting  in limited interest rate fair value risk for the Company. 
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Price risk  
 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign 
currency risk. The Company is exposed to equity price risk associated with changes in the market 
value of its investments. The Company closely monitors equity prices to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken. A 10% change in the quoted market of investments 
would result in a change of approximately $8,600 in the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss for the nine months ended December 31, 2021. 
 

(19) Business segments 
 
The Company has one reportable business segment, which is engaged in the business of 
providing leasing solutions to owners/operators of cannabis and hemp companies including 
cultivators, oil processors, manufacturers, and testing laboratories, among others. 

(20) Subsequent events 

Lease Originations  
 

In the months of January through April 2022, the Company added two new customers and 
completed 19 lease transactions with publicly-traded and private cannabis companies including 
Columbia Care Inc. (“Columbia Care”), Ayr Wellness Inc., (“Ayr Wellness”), PharmaCann, Inc. 
(“PharmaCann”), and CLS Holdings USA, Inc (“CLS”).  During this period, the Company 
originated over $21,600,000 of leases.  
 
Stock Option Activity  
 
In January 2022 , the Company granted a total of 14,917,080 options to employees, directors, and 
consultants of the Company with an exercise price of $0.18CAD ($0.14). The options have a term 
of five years, with 25% vesting immediately and the remainder vesting evenly over three years. A 
total of 10,813,040 stock options were granted to directors and officers. Additionally, in February 
2022 the Company and a related party mutually cancelled 50,000 options, and the Company and 
an unrelated party mutually cancelled 427,500 options.   

 




